1956

N. J. Meagher, Jr. et al v. Equity Oil Company et al : Plaintiffs' Opening Brief

Utah Supreme Court

A. INTRODUCTION.

In the interest of clarity, the parties are designated herein as "plaintiffs" and "defendants" since all but Equity Oil Company appear before this Court both as appellants and respondents.

The essential facts have been established by documents. In view of the bulk of the record, plaintiffs attach Appendices to this Brief which set forth a substantial portion of the most important testimony and exhibits.

This Brief will present plaintiffs' requests for affirmative relief and will not anticipate defendants' requests for affirmative relief.

Since October of 1944, plaintiffs have owned an undivided half of the working interest, as to oil, in the so-called "Sheridan Lease." This was established by a previous quiet title suit initiated in 1944 by N. J. Meagher in his own behalf and carried to conclusion by him in behalf of his assigns, his children, who are plaintiffs here. In that quiet title suit, the District Court, in 1951, declared plaintiffs' ownership in the lease, as aforesaid. In 1953, this Court affirmed that decision. Stock and Juhan filed a Petition for Rehearing. Burton W. Musser made a presentation as *amicus curiae*. In 1954 the Petition for Rehearing was denied. In 1948, while the quiet title suit was still pending, plaintiffs' co-lessees, the defendants here, with full knowledge of plaintiffs' claims and suit, drilled on the property and discovered oil. Defendants have been marketing oil from the lease in very substantial quantities ever since. Notwithstanding the title adjudication in 1951 and its affirmance, defendants have failed to account to plaintiffs for their operations and have paid nothing to plaintiffs. Thus this suit for an accounting was forced upon plaintiffs. Their rights are so obvious that they were declared by summary proceedings in this case. Defendants appeal from that summary interlocutory decree. Deeming it necessary to request relief in view of defendants' appeals, plaintiffs ask this Court for affirmative relief on issues which are essentially procedural.

B. STATUS OF THE APPEALS.

By appeals and cross-appeals, the various parties present the following matters to this Court:

1. Defendant Weber Oil Company appeals from the Interlocutory Judgment and Decree of December 13, 1955. (Appendix D.)

2. Defendants Stock and Juhan appeal from the Interlocutory Judgment and Decree of December 13, 1955.

3. Defendants Stock and Juhan appeal from an order of December 15, 1955 (Appendix F), which vacates an inadvertent order signed December 13, 1955 (Appendix E).

4. Plaintiffs (a) appeal from the inadvertent order of December 13, 1955; (b) request a ruling that defendants Weber Oil Company, Stock and Juhan are subject to the same obligations to account and pay as are imposed upon their agent Equity Oil Company under the Interlocutory Judgment and Decree; (c) request a ruling that Equity Oil Company is not only a stakeholder in this matter but is also a real party in interest and as such is subject to the same obligations and responsibilities as the other defendants, and (d) seek reversal of the lower court's order dismissing the Fourth Count of plaintiffs' Complaint.

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS.

1. History of the litigation.

These appeals bring this controversy to this Court for the fourth time.

In 1944, N. J. Meagher commenced an action to quiet title to all rights and interests in a certain parcel of land owned by him in Uintah County. Defendant Juhan appeared in that action and asserted that an oil and gas lease, hereinafter termed "Sheridan Lease," was outstanding and valid. Juhan's answer set forth the Sheridan Lease, asserted that Juhan owned all interests therein and prayed for a decree to that effect. N. J. Meagher maintained that the Sheridan Lease had been abandoned. The trial court held that the lease had been abandoned and therefore did not determine the ownership of interests in the lease. This Court, however, held that the Sheridan Lease was valid and remanded the case for further proceedings which, of course, required determination of the ownership of interests in the lease.¹

Next, the case reached this Court in a mandamus proceeding.²

In that proceeding, this Court corrected procedural error by the District Court, which consisted of entertaining a motion to set aside the former decision of the lower court. This Court pointed out that its own decision set aside the lower court's decision without need for further action by the lower court. In its Opinion on the mandamus matter, this Court spelled out the scope of the lower court's power to take further action as follows:

¹*N. J. Meagher v. Uintah Gas Co., et al.*, District Court. No. 2238, Supreme Court No. 6972 (October 27, 1947) 185 P.2d 747.

²*Ray Phebus, et al. v. Honorable William Stanley Dunford*, Supreme Court No. 7187 (November 8, 1948) 198 P.2d 973.

“The lower court’s former decision, in its entirety, having been set aside, that court should proceed to a determination of the case the same as if no such previous decision by it had been rendered. The only restriction imposed upon it in accomplishing a final determination of the case lies in the issues decided upon the appeal to this Supreme Court (see citation). Those issues may not be acted upon or decided contrary to the way they were decided by this Court. Other than that restriction, the lower court may act in this case as it may act in any case at a time prior to its final determination of the facts and law of the case.”

The third occasion for this Court to act involved an appeal from the decision of the lower court after the second trial below. In that second trial, the lower court examined all claims of the parties to interests in the Sheridan Lease and held that Stock had transferred his interest to Meagher in 1944. This determination was affirmed by this Court.³

Despite this determination, defendants Stock and Juhan, who had been formal active parties to the quiet title suit, refused to account to plaintiffs. Their admitted agent, defendant Equity Oil Company, and their associate, defendant Weber Oil Company, who were not formal parties to the previous litigation, likewise refused to account or pay and refused to recognize plaintiffs’ title as decided by

³*N. J. Meagher v. Uintah Gas Co., et al.*, District Court No. 2238, Supreme Court No. 7723 (February 11, 1953) 255 P.2d 989. Rehearing denied January 19, 1954. The opinion is reproduced in Appendix C.

this Court. Consequently, the instant suit was commenced to declare plaintiffs' rights as against defendants Equity Oil Company and Weber Oil Company, and to obtain an accounting and payment from all defendants.

2. The factual background.

The titles of the respective parties may be briefly traced as follows: As of October 21, 1944, N. J. Meagher was the owner of the lands involved in this litigation subject to the Sheridan Lease. The lease, as to oil only, was then owned one-half by defendant Paul Stock and one-half by one Ray Phebus.⁴ Hereinafter, for convenience, these interests in the lease will be termed the "Stock Half" and the "Phebus Half."

On October 21, 1944, N. J. Meagher acquired the Stock Half by transfer from defendant Stock.⁵

Meagher retained the Stock Half, acquired as aforesaid, until January 27, 1948. On that date N. J. Meagher, joined by his wife Katherine T. Meagher, transferred to their four children (the remaining plaintiffs herein) all of their interest in the lease and the lands affected thereby,

⁴This has been conceded by all parties since the first appeal of the quiet title suit.

⁵This was determined in the second trial of the quiet title suit in which the validity of the transfer was attacked by Stock and Juhan on all possible grounds. The District Court's judgment, so far as this determination is concerned, was affirmed by this Court in the second appeal. *N. J. Meagher v. Uintah Gas Co., et al.*, Supreme Court No. 7723, 255 P.2d 989. Appendix C.

excepting only a royalty interest which is not involved in this appeal.⁶

The senior Meaghers reaffirmed this transfer to their children by quitclaim deed dated May 10, 1954.⁷

The foregoing are the only valid transfers affecting the Stock Half.

The Phebus Half of the Sheridan Lease was acquired on January 19, 1945, by defendant Juhan.⁸ However, Juhan also sought to acquire the Stock Half. In April of 1945, Juhan sent his agent Chas. S. Hill to Stock with a plan to defeat Meagher's claims.⁹ Pursuant to this plan, on April 14, 1945, Stock executed a quitclaim to Hill notwithstanding the prior recorded transfer which Stock had executed in Meagher's favor six months before.¹⁰ This quitclaim of April 14, 1945 was abortive and a nullity because the Stock Half had been transferred to Meagher in October 1944, the transfer had been recorded on November 3, 1944,¹¹ and both Stock and Hill had actual knowledge of it.¹² The only effect of this abortive document was to cloud Meagher's title and cause confusion. This confusion results from the fact that after

⁶Exhibit A-22 in District Court No. 2238. The record and exhibits in the prior quiet title suit (District Court No. 2238) are part of the Record on Appeal here.

⁷Exhibit P-7 in District Court No. 3228, the instant case.

⁸Exhibit A-18 in District Court. No. 2238.

⁹Testimony of Stock in second trial of quiet title case. Appendix M.

¹⁰Exhibit A-19 in District Court No. 2238.

¹¹Exhibit A-30 in District Court No. 2238.

¹²Appendix M.

Hill obtained the abortive quitclaim from Stock, he and his assigns, the defendants here, executed a series of transfers which treated the Stock-to-Hill transfer as though it were valid.

The first of these was a quitclaim from Hill to Juhan.¹³ Then, without distinguishing between his valid interest in the Phebus Half and the false interest he had obtained in the Stock Half from Hill, Juhan transferred an interest in the lease to Equity Oil Company on January 11, 1946.¹⁴ Immediately thereafter and on January 18, 1946, Equity Oil Company caused Weber Oil Company to be incorporated. Then, on December 30, 1947, Equity Oil Company transferred all of its interest to its wholly-owned subsidiary Weber Oil Company. This transfer also fails to distinguish between the valid Phebus Half and the false interest in the Stock Half.¹⁵ This false chain of title is the only basis Weber Oil Company has for any claim to any interest in the Stock Half. To assert this chain of title is frivolous.

From the foregoing it will be seen that after October 1944, Stock ceased to have any interest in the lease. However, nearly four years later, on July 12, 1948, Stock returned to the chain of title by acquisition of an interest from Juhan.¹⁶ Necessarily, such interest was limited to

¹³Exhibit A-20 in District Court No. 2238.

¹⁴Exhibit A-21 in District Court No. 2238.

¹⁵Exhibit A-24 in District Court No. 2238.

¹⁶Exhibit A-23 in District Court No. 2238.

the Phebus Half of the lease and Stock became one of the co-lessees for the first time since October of 1944.¹⁷

The above described confusion in the record title does not disturb the defendants as between themselves. An agreement dated April 9, 1951, signed by all defendants, sets forth that regardless of the outcome of the litigation with Meagher, they shall each divide whatever interest is ultimately obtained by any of them in the following proportions: 50 percent to Weber Oil Company, 25 percent to Stock and 25 percent to Juhan.¹⁸ It is important to bear this one-for-all, all-for-one agreement in mind. It explains why none of the defendants oppose the claims of any of the other defendants even though their claims conflict and overlap. The point is that whatever any defendant gets, they all share.

As of September 1948, encouraged by the decision of this Court, which validated their claim to the Phebus Half by holding the Sheridan Lease to be valid, defendants agreed among themselves to continue to oppose Meagher's claims and in the meantime to drill upon the property.¹⁹ Thus, as owners of the Phebus Half of the lease and with an opportunity to obtain the other half, depending upon

¹⁷Stock's testimony in the first trial of the quiet title suit concedes that his purchase from Juhan in 1948 was designed to give him an interest in the Phebus Half of the lease regardless of the outcome of the litigation with Meagher. Appendix N.

¹⁸Exhibit P-13 in District Court No. 3228, the instant case. Appendix L.

¹⁹The various agreements between the defendants to band together in the litigation against Meagher are discussed in detail in Section E.3 of this Brief.

the outcome of the pending litigation with Meagher, defendants appointed Equity Oil Company their operating agent to drill, produce and market the production from the lease. Equity Oil Company then entered upon the property and in September of 1948 discovered oil.

In the second trial of the quiet title suit, affirmed by this Court as aforesaid, it was determined that plaintiff N. J. Meagher and through him his assigns, his four children, did, by the assignment of October 21, 1944 from Stock, acquire the original Stock Half in the Sheridan Lease.²⁰ In spite of the fact that the title of the Meaghers was now established beyond a reasonable doubt, Equity Oil Company and Weber Oil Company refused to recognize it on the superficial ground that they had not been formal parties to the prior litigation. Juhan and Stock continued to refuse to recognize the title of the Meaghers for no plausible reason whatsoever. Therefore, plaintiffs were forced to bring the instant action to bring the defendants to account. In this suit plaintiffs allege ownership of their half of the Sheridan Lease; seek adjudication that their interest is valid as against Equity Oil Company and Weber Oil Company; request accounting and payment from all defendants, and pray for interest and damages resulting from the wrongful withholding. All defendants finally answered, again challenging plaintiffs' ownership of the Stock Half.

²⁰The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law of the District Court in the Second Trial are set forth in Appendix A. The decree in said case is set forth in Appendix B.

In an effort to narrow the issues and to eliminate title questions about which there is no substantial controversy, plaintiffs moved the District Court for an interlocutory summary judgment. The District Court granted this motion and found that the former litigation was res adjudicata against Stock and Juhan. It also found that, although Weber had not been a formal party to the quiet title litigation, it was bound by the judgment therein because Weber Oil Company is a mere successor in interest to and in privity with Stock and Juhan. The District Court also found that Equity Oil Company asserts no title to the lease and, therefore, is not involved in any controversy over title.²¹

It is noteworthy that defendants Equity Oil Company and Weber Oil Company have never asserted that they, or either of them, ever acquired any interest in the Stock Half of the lease as bona fide purchasers for value without notice of the outstanding Meagher claims.

Thus, the prior litigation determined that as against Juhan and Stock, the four Meagher children, as assignees of their parents, acquired the original Stock Half. In this suit the lower court has found and decreed that the title of the Meaghers is valid as against Equity Oil Company and Weber Oil Company.

Accordingly, the Interlocutory Judgment and Decree directs Equity Oil Company, as agent of Weber, Stock and Juhan, to render an accounting to plaintiffs and then to

²¹Interlocutory Judgment and Decree. Appendix D.

pay the amount due plaintiffs as reflected by said account. The Court also authorized Equity Oil Company to make this payment from certain funds impounded by it. All remaining issues, such as the deductibility of expenses, the propriety of particular expenses, interest and damages, were left undecided for further proceedings. Since the Interlocutory Judgment and Decree does not dispose of all issues, it is expressly labeled as interlocutory and the lower court reserves jurisdiction to determine the remaining issues.

The foregoing explains why the Interlocutory Decree summarily disposes of the minor title issues and directs an accounting. Now we shall summarize the circumstances which gave rise to the procedural problems which are presented to this Court. On December 13, 1955, the date of entry of the Interlocutory Judgment and Decree, the District Court, as explained by the Judge himself, mistakenly signed an Order directing Equity Oil Company to pay one-half of the impounded funds to Stock and Juhan. This requires a brief explanation of the impounded funds.

During the pendency of the prior suit, which related solely to title problems and did not seek an accounting, the parties entered into an agreement under which Equity Oil Company impounds half of the proceeds of production, after royalties, less the expenses claimed by Equity Oil Company to be chargeable to the half of the working interest which is claimed by plaintiffs. In other words, subject to dispute over the account, this agree-

ment provides for impounding an amount designed to represent plaintiffs' minimum share on the basis of plaintiffs' title claims. This agreement was made to avoid filing an accounting suit while issues of title remained undecided. It will be noted that only plaintiffs' share is impounded, and the defendants are free to receive their respective shares as the production is marketed.²²

Upon commencing this action, plaintiffs considered that the impounding agreement was no longer binding upon defendants. Fearing distribution of proceeds to non-resident parties,²³ plaintiffs sought an injunction which would restrain defendants from distributing the proceeds until further order of the court. At the hearing on the injunction, defendants offered to have Equity Oil Company continue to impound the plaintiffs' share of the proceeds as in the past. This offer was accepted by plaintiffs in lieu of injunction and was approved by order of the District Court.²⁴ Thus, plaintiffs' minimum share

²²The interest of the plaintiffs in the proceeds is frequently described in the record in terms of gross production. The outstanding royalties, which total $18\frac{1}{2}$ percent, are expense free, and owners thereof are entitled to $18\frac{1}{2}$ percent of the proceeds of production. Thus, the owners of the total working interest are entitled to $80\frac{1}{2}$ percent of production, and plaintiffs are entitled to 40.75 percent of production. Then, if defendants meet the equitable conditions precedent, they may charge plaintiffs with one half of the operating expense.

²³Weber Oil Company is a Colorado corporation. Juhan is a resident of Colorado. Stock is a resident of Wyoming.

²⁴Minute Entry dated May 20, 1954, and formalized by order dated September 23, 1954, R. pp. 123-125.

of the proceeds has been impounded during the course of this suit and is still being impounded while defendants continue to receive their shares.

The Order dated December 13, 1955, directed Equity Oil Company to pay half of the impounded funds to Stock and Juhan.²⁵ On that day the District Judge telephoned Herbert Van Dam, one of counsel for plaintiffs. They discussed the Interlocutory Judgment and Decree and the Order of December 13th. Mr. Van Dam then reminded the judge that any order requiring payment of any portion of the impounded fund to Stock and Juhan would conflict with the Interlocutory Judgment and Decree because the impounded fund contained only plaintiffs' share of the proceeds of oil. The District Judge advised Mr. Van Dam that he had no intention of entering an order which would impair plaintiffs' rights under the Interlocutory Judgment and Decree and said he would withhold said order. The District Judge directed Mr. Van Dam to advise counsel for defendants of his intentions in the matter. This was done.²⁶

Thereafter, the District Judge entered an order dated December 15, 1955, which expressly states that the order of December 13, 1955, was entered by mistake and is vacated as being in conflict with the Interlocutory Judgment and Decree.²⁷

²⁵Order of December 13, 1955. Appendix E. R. p. 242.

²⁶Affidavit of Herbert Van Dam. Appendix G.

²⁷Order of December 15, 1955. Appendix F. R. p. 246.

Promptly thereafter plaintiffs noticed a motion for an order clarifying the record with respect to the inadvertent order of December 13, 1955. This was done to afford all parties a hearing with respect to the circumstances under which the orders of December 13th and of December 15th were entered. After this motion was filed and before hearing thereon, defendants Stock and Juhan, through their counsel Burton W. Musser, filed an application to disqualify the District Judge.

Thereafter defendants Equity Oil Company, by Harley W. Gustin, counsel, noticed a motion for an order authorizing deposit of the impounded funds into Court.

Following this, defendants Stock and Juhan noticed a motion to strike plaintiffs' motion to clarify the record and to strike the Court's order of December 15, 1955, which vacates the order of December 13, 1955.

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