1956

# N. J. Meagher, Jr. et al v. Equity Oil Company et al : Brief of Appellant and Respondent Weber Oil Company

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

Appendices A, B, C, H, I, J, K, M and N at the end of plaintiffs' brief all refer to matters adjudicated in Civil Case 2238 and finally disposed of by this Court on appeal in *Meagher v. Uintah Gas Co. et al.*, 255 P. 2d 989. The question immediately arises as to how many times matters can be litigated and when have the plaintiffs exhausted their cause of action. The tenor of plaintiffs' brief would be to accept in part and to reject in part that which has been previously litigated. The various indicia of ownership, if any, and the testimony of the witnesses loses its identity and has become merged in the judgment by all of the authorities. The plaintiffs in the instant case, by clever subtlety, are attempting (1) to avoid the consequences of their failure to appeal or cross appeal in the previous case from the decree awarding Stock one-sixteenth and Juhan three-sixteenths of the oil produced under the Sheridan Lease ( $\frac{1}{2}$  of the 40.75%); and (2) to avoid their omission to join in a petition for rehearing in the last appeal (Case 7723). To obscure these funda-



mental omissions they indulge in name calling beneath the dignity of reply, and in so doing hope to divert attention from the real issues involved.

#### POINT 1.

WEBER OIL COMPANY SHOULD BE DISMISSED OUT OF THE ACTION WITH A SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN ITS FAVOR AS TO THE TITLE THAT IT ADMITTEDLY OWNS.

The affidavit of N. J. Meagher, Jr. herein (R. 27-28) referring to Civil Case 2238, the former action, states:

*“The trial court, on March 6, 1951, adjudicated that Meagher, for the use and benefit of his grantees, the plaintiffs herein, was, as against defendants Juhan and Stock, the owner of the half interest in the lease to which he asserted title. Neither defendant Equity Oil Company nor defendant Weber Oil Company were parties to that litigation for, as hereinabove recited, issues had been joined thereon long before either of said parties acquired any interest whatsoever in the Sheridan Lease, and for the further reason that the only interest or title held by said defendants is derivative from and traceable to the Phebus one-half interest, which one-half interest is not in dispute.”* (Emphasis added.)

The second sentence of the above quote is a direct admission that the Phebus half of the Sheridan Lease is not in litigation and never has been and that plaintiffs make no claim to the same. The first sentence of the quote refers to the Memorandum Decision of March 6, 1951, found at pages 140-194 of the record on appeal in Case 2238 and *not* to the Findings of Fact, Conclusions

of Law and Decree entered in that case on June 4, 1951 (R. 281-305). The decree awards to Stock and Juhan a combined 25% of the oil. It is untrue to say, as does the first sentence of the above quote, that on March 6, 1951, it was *adjudicated* that Meagher was, as against defendants Juhan and Stock, the owner of the half interest in the lease to which he asserted title.

It is interesting to note, however, that in the Memorandum Decision, at page 167 of former record on appeal, Judge Dunford rationalizes the mandate of this Court in the first appeal as follows:

“By directing further proceedings, instead of merely ordering judgment for the defendants, or judgment quieting plaintiff’s title subject to the lease, it appeared to this Court *that the only possible thing contemplated by the Supreme Court was to determine the parties’ rights under the lease*. The plaintiff was compelled to accept that interpretation, and moved to have his rights, as well as the rights of the defendants thereunder, determined. The most that could be said of his change of position is that he was mistaken in his understanding that A1 and A5 (the Sheridan Lease and Modification Agreement) were void and constituted nothing more than a cloud upon his property.” (Emphasis added.)

The theory announced by the trial judge (Dunford) was carried into the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decree of June 4, 1951, where the court proceeded to delineate the whole title to the leasehold. This Court on appeal, 255 P. 2d 989 at page 992, contrary to



the theory that a new cause of action was before the trial court, said:

“\* \* \* that an entirely new and different cause may not be pleaded by reply. Nor could a plaintiff in a quiet title action assert title acquired after its commencement. \* \* \* We cannot view Meagher’s claim of one-half interest alleged in his amended reply as a new or different cause. After reversal by this court, he conceded only half ownership in the originally pleaded whole. Meagher’s action persists on the same theory, — one to quiet title.”

This Court states:

“Meagher claims nothing through Phebus, but claims a one-half interest through Stock’s ‘release,’  
\* \* \*.”

And that one of the three claims brought into the case since the former decision (185 P. 2d 747) was:

“Stock’s, by counterclaim, to assert a one-half interest in operating rights in 440 acres, in opposition to Meagher’s identical claim.”

In the previous decision, 185 P. 2d 747 at page 748, it is stated:

“On January 19, 1945, Phebus quitclaimed his interest to Juhan.”

This Court in 255 P. 2d 989, at page 991, finds that:

“Defendant Juhan has transferred his interest in the operating rights to Equity Oil, and it to Weber Oil, neither litigants here.”

N. J. Meagher, Jr. in the portion of his affidavit quoted above unequivocally identifies the interest now held by Weber Oil Company as the Phebus one-half interest.

Paragraph number 13 of N. J. Meagher's (Sr.) affidavit in support of plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment states:

"On January 19, 1945, Phebus executed the aforesaid quitclaim transferring his interest in the Sheridan Lease to Juhan.

Plaintiffs assert no title to said Phebus interest in the Sheridan Lease." (R. 167)

At the Provo hearing on the motion for summary judgment the difference between counsel as to interpretation of the Dunford decree, as modified by this Court on appeal, is strikingly pointed out:

"MR. GUSTIN: What right, after the Dunford decree and after it had been adjudicated by the Supreme Court that the subject matter was the Stock half, what is there out of that half that could now be litigated unless you are impeaching the Dunford decree?

MR. WHEAT: Well, the answer is simple, the Supreme Court *did not* adjudicate the Stock half was the subject matter of the litigation." (Rep. Tr. 292) (Emphasis added)

To say that the Stock half was not the subject matter of litigation in the last appeal is spurious. This Court leaves no room for equivocation that Meagher claims nothing through Phebus but claims a one-half interest through Stock's "release," the "principal subject of this

suit." It necessarily follows that out of the subject matter in litigation Stock was decreed one-sixteenth and Juhan was decreed three-sixteenths of the oil ( $\frac{1}{2}$  of 40.75%). This facet of the decree was affirmed by this Court and was never the subject of appeal.

The decree in favor of Stock and Juhan was a divisible independent portion thereof and if the plaintiffs had questioned it they should have taken their cross appeal. *Rosenthynne v. Matthews-McCulloch Co.*, 51 Utah 38, 168 P. 957, *Reimann v. Baum*, 115 Utah 147, 203 P. 2d 387, and *Spendlove v. Shewchuck*, 116 Utah 248, 209 P. 2d 247, in which latter case it is stated that when the respondent does not cross appeal and does not assign the ruling of the lower court as error, then "respondent has not raised any issue before this court which the court can review."

The motion of Weber Oil Company for summary judgment (R. 188-189) was for a decree of summary judgment against the plaintiffs adjudicating Weber Oil Company to be the owner of an undivided one-half interest in the lessee's rights under the Sheridan Lease, and that the plaintiffs, and each of them, have no right, title, interest or estate in or to the undivided one-half interest in said Sheridan Lease so adjudicated as held, owned and possessed by defendant Weber Oil Company. The motion was based upon the decision of this Court in its Case 7723 (255 P. 2d 989) and the remittitur issued on January 20, 1954, to which judgment reference is made by the Meagher affidavit on motion for summary judgment (R. 179). The plaintiffs, as well as the defendant

Weber Oil Company, were claiming that their respective motions should be granted on the former Dunford judgment as affirmed on appeal.

All of the counts of the complaint are premised upon the proposition that the plaintiffs have an undivided one-half interest in the Sheridan Lease *as against all* of the defendants, and the complaint refers to and attempts a construction of the decision of this Court to that effect in the last appeal. The motions to dismiss made by Weber Oil Company (R. 72-77) effectively raised the issue as to whether the action could be so litigated as against Weber Oil Company, but most certainly, as the matter was submitted on the motions for summary judgment, the title question had resolved itself to the point where, as a matter of law, the court was required to say that Weber Oil Company is the owner of an undivided one-half interest in the lessee's rights under the Sheridan Lease and that the plaintiffs have no right, title, interest or estate therein.

The Interlocutory Judgment and Decree appealed from delineates, in favor of the plaintiffs, a 25% title out of the Phebus side of the Sheridan Lease and takes from Weber the adjudicated Stock and Juhan portion, and thus would amend, vary, contradict, reverse and annul the Dunford decree as affirmed by this Court on appeal in that regard. In the instant case the trial court could not nor can it be presumed to have departed from the affirmed Dunford decree as to Stock and Juhan. We point to the expression of this Court in *Utah Copper Co. v. Dis-*

*strict Court*, 91 Utah 377, 64 P. 2d 241 :

“The rule is well established and there does not seem to be anything to the contrary that when a case has been determined by a reviewing court and remanded to the trial court, the duty of the latter is to comply with the mandate of the former. The mandate is binding on the lower court and must be strictly followed and carried into effect according to its true intent and meaning as determined by the directions given by the reviewing court. When the trial court fails or refuses to obey or give effect to the mandate or remittitur, or misconstrues it or acts beyond its province in carrying it out, it becomes the province and duty of the appellate court to enforce compliance therewith, and it is generally recognized that such may be done on writ or order of mandamus. The lower court upon remand of a case from a higher court, must obey the mandate or remittitur and render judgment in conformity thereto and has no authority to enter any judgment not in conformity with the order. Whatever comes before and is decided and disposed of by the reviewing court is considered as finally settled and the inferior court to which a mandate issues is bound by the decree as the law of the case and must carry it into execution according to the mandate, and after the reviewing court has determined the case before it and remanded it to the lower court, the latter is without power to modify, alter, amend, set aside, or in any manner disturb or depart from the judgment of the reviewing court; that the judgment of the higher court is not reviewable in any way by the court below and the lower court cannot vary or examine the decree of the higher court for any other purpose than execution, *or give any other or further relief or review it even*

*for apparent error upon any matter decided on appeal, or meddle with it further than to settle so much as has been remanded.”* (Emphasis added.)

The plaintiffs, if they have any title in the Sheridan Lease, have 25% of the lessee's rights with respect to oil, less the proportionate share of operating expenditures. Stock and Juhan have 25% and Weber Oil Company has 50%. The plaintiffs have no interest in the April 9, 1951 agreement (Appendix L, Plaintiffs' Brief).

## POINT 2.

THE INTERLOCUTORY JUDGMENT AND DECREE OF DECEMBER 13, 1955, IS VOID AS TO WEBER OIL COMPANY.

By its rulings on motions on October 14, 1955 (R. 213-215) *the court* exercised all of the authority afforded it under Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Thereafter the only issues left to be tried were those specifically reserved as against Equity Oil Company. The rulings on motions dated, signed *by the court* and filed in the action effectively dispose of all the remaining counts against the defendant Weber Oil Company, and specifically grants Weber Oil Company's motion for summary judgment thereon. There were no reserved issues against any defendant except Equity Oil Company and then only in its status as a stakeholder.

Proceedings under Rule 56 are summary in their very nature and require the judgment to be entered "forthwith". No findings are required and the judgment



so entered is final, except as provided in subdivision (d) of the rule. In the instant matter the only party remaining in the action is Equity Oil Company. The Fourth Count of Plaintiffs' complaint had been dismissed by the formal order of the court dated December 21, 1954 (R. 113-114).

There was no appeal from the rulings of October 14, 1955, and it was not until after the time for appeal had expired that the court entered the so-called Interlocutory Judgment and Decree as drafted by plaintiffs. The ruling of October 14, 1955, is not an order for a judgment or a memorandum from which the judgment was to be drawn. It is not a minute entry. It is a final judgment. The rulings embody the self executing order granted on defendants' motions for summary judgment. The time for an appeal could not be extended by the Interlocutory Judgment and Decree of December 13th nor could the court make such further order without first having set aside its order of October 14th.

In *Mower v. McCarthy*, ..... Utah ....., 245 P. 2d 224, the dissenting opinion suggests, under Article VIII, Section 9, Constitution of Utah, that this Court is powerless to review an appeal in cases of law without findings of fact. This Court held, notwithstanding the constitutional provision, that in reviewing a case involving certain rules of civil procedure where issues of fact are involved and there are no findings of fact it is assumed that the trier of the facts found them in accord with its decision. The reason given by the lower court in the instant case

is that the prior action, Case 2238, determined the title issues and stated in effect that the Dunford decision, as affirmed, was *res judicata* as to all of the parties. The defendants could not re-litigate the Stock side of the title and the plaintiffs could not re-litigate so as to reach over into the Phebus side of the title.

Plaintiffs contend that the Interlocutory Judgment and Decree of December 13, 1955, is interlocutory as to Weber Oil Company and the individual defendants, as well as to Equity Oil Company. The alleged decree as to Weber is void but, nevertheless, Weber Oil Company can invoke this Court's judgment on the voidness of the alleged decree by appeal to this Court, which it is doing. See *Openshaw v. Young*, 107 Utah 399, 152 P. 2d 84.

Admittedly the rulings of October 14, 1955, are interlocutory as to Equity Oil Company in its status of stakeholder and as to it there is no appeal until a final judgment. It must be assumed, however, that the trial court correctly interpreted the decision of this Court in the former case and that when it directed an accounting against Equity Oil Company of one-half of the proceeds after operating expenses are deducted it was referring to one-half of the 40.75% of the gross crude oil runs in Equity's hands as stakeholder. All of which is consistent with the Dunford decree as amended on appeal to this Court.

### POINT 3.

THIS COURT CAN ONLY ACT HEREIN AS AN APPELLATE COURT AND NOT AS A COURT HAVING ORIGINAL JURISDICTION.



Point 2 of plaintiffs' brief would have this Court rewrite the Interlocutory Judgment and Decree so that Weber Oil Company, Stock and Juhan are obligated to account and pay or, in the alternative, that this Court "*make clear* that the lower court is not precluded from making such provision when rendering its further orders and decrees in this matter." We submit that such is not the function of the appellate court.

The third point argued by plaintiffs boils down to a "request" that this Court make "a clear declaration" that Equity Oil Company is not a stakeholder but is a principal, if not the principal defendant in the action. The order of September 23, 1954 (R. 123-125) states:

"4. That the defendant Equity Oil Company, *pursuant to the stipulation of the parties* made in open court, continue to hold in a special fund an amount equal to 40.75 per cent of the gross crude oil runs from the property described in plaintiffs' complaint after deducting operating expenses, until the further order of the Court." (Emphasis added.)

It was upon that theory that the motions for summary judgment were argued to the trial court. Consistent therewith the court, in its rulings on motions on October 14, 1955 (R. 213-215), stated:

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